
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 
Riverbank House 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 
DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 

 

 

 

Date: 19 March 2021 

 

FULL COUNCIL MEETING 
 

On: Monday 29 March 2021 At: 6.30 pm 

Venue: Virtual meeting via Zoom 

 
Temporary measures during the Coronavirus Pandemic: 

Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in the public forum are advised that 
all Council meetings taking place during the Covid-19 Pandemic will be filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the YouTube channel - https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the aforementioned date and time 
 

 
 

Chief Executive  

 

To: Councillor D Brenton (Chair) 
Councillor P Christie (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: R Boughton, C Bright, M Brown, D Bushby, M Clarke, C Cottle-
Hunkin, R Craigie, A Dart, L Ford, J Gubb, P Hackett, P Hames, S Harding, 
C Hawkins, K Hepple, R Hicks, C Hodson, D Hurley, J Hutchings, T Inch, 
K James, D Jones, S Langford, N Laws, C Leather, R Lock, J Manley, 
D McGeough, J McKenzie, S Newton, P Pennington, G Rossi, P Watson and 
R Wiseman 

 
Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting 

 
AGENDA 

 
PART I - (OPEN SESSION) 



 
 

 

  
 
 

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies for absence from the meeting 
 

2.   Public Contributions  

 15 minute period for public contributions (The deadline for registering to speak is by 
2pm Thursday 25 March 2021. To register please email 
dem.services@torridge.gov.uk). 
 

3.   Declarations of interest  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being discussed. 
 

4.   Agreement of Agenda Items Part I and II  

5.   To consider correspondence or other business especially brought forward by 
the direction of the Chair  

6.   To answer questions submitted under Procedural Rule A9  

7.   Reopening of Torridge Leisure Facilities (Pages 4 - 11) 

 To receive the report of the Chief Executive 
 

8.   Petitions  

 To receive petitions (if any) 
 

9.   Notices of Motion  

 There are no Notices of Motion 
 

10.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move: 
 
“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972” 
 

11.   PART II - (CLOSED SESSION)  

  
Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed. 
 

12.   Torridge Leisure Facilities- Maintenance and condition (Pages 12 - 22) 

mailto:services@torridge.gov.uk


 
 

 

 To receive the report and appendices of the Chief Executive 
 

 Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services 
 

 



 
  

REPORT OF Chief Executive 

To: Full Council 

Subject: Reopening of Torridge Leisure Facilities 

Date: 29th March 2021 Reference:  

 
 
 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:     
To present to members with proposals for the reopening of the Torridge leisure facilities and that 
members consider a package of financial assistance for 1610 to facilitate the swiftest possible 
reopening and ongoing provision of service. 
 

 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 Members will be aware that on the 5th January 2021, in accordance with instruction from the 

Government, the Council’s leisure facilities were again closed to the public to help stop the 
spread of Covid 19.  All Indoor and outdoor sports facilities including sports courts, gyms, 
golf courses, swimming pools, and riding arenas were instructed to close. Elite sport and 
disabled sport was allowed to continue.  

 
On the 22nd February the Prime Minister announced the Roadmap out of Lockdown and from 
the 29th March it will be possible to reopen some leisure facilities as long as strict social 
distancing measures are adhered to. 

 
 As members are aware, Torridge’s Leisure facilities are managed under contract by 1610, a 

charitable trust that have been the Council’s leisure provider for nearly 9 years. 
 
 Officers of the Council have been in negotiation with 1610 about how our leisure facilities 

can be safely reopened and at what level of financial support might be required.   These 
negotiations have been centred around various remobilisation issues and the on-going 
additional costs associated with operating under the current Covid guidance, with reduced 
trading capacity. 
 

 
2. REPORT 
 

In relation to leisure facilities, the Government Roadmap out of Lockdown, published on the 
22nd Feb 2021, states: 
 
Step 1 - Changes on 29 March 
 
Business and activities 
 
Outdoor sports facilities such as tennis and basketball courts, and open-air swimming pools, 
will also be allowed to reopen, and people will be able to take part in formally organised 
outdoor sports. 
 
 
Step 2 - not before 12 April 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 7



 
  

Business and activities 
 
Step 2, which will be no earlier than 12 April, will see the opening of non-essential retail; 
personal care premises such as hairdressers and nail salons; and public buildings, including 
libraries and community centres. Indoor leisure facilities such as gyms can also reopen 
(but only for use by people on their own or in household groups); as will most outdoor 
attractions and settings including outdoor hospitality venues, zoos, theme parks, and drive-in 
cinemas. Self-contained accommodation such as campsites and holiday lets, where indoor 
facilities are not shared with other households, can also reopen. 
 
 
Step 3 - not before 17 May 
 
Business and activities 
 
Most businesses in all but the highest risk sectors will be able to reopen. In all sectors, 
COVID-Secure guidance will remain in place and businesses may not cater for groups 
bigger than the legal limits. Indoor hospitality will reopen - and as in Step 2, venues will not 
have to serve a substantial meal with alcoholic drinks; nor will there be a curfew. Customers 
will, however, have to order, eat and drink while seated. 
 
Other indoor locations to open up in Step 3 include indoor entertainment venues such as 
cinemas and children’s play areas; the rest of the accommodation sector, including hotels, 
hostels and B&Bs; and indoor adult group sports and exercise classes. The government 
will also allow some larger performances and sporting events in indoor venues with a 
capacity of 1,000 people or half-full (whichever is a lower number), and in outdoor venues 
with a capacity of 4,000 people or half-full (whichever is a lower number). In the largest 
outdoor seated venues, where crowds can be spread out, up to 10,000 people will be able to 
attend (or a quarter-full, whichever is lower). 
 
 
Review of social distancing 
 
Finally, before Step 4 begins, the government will complete a review of social distancing and 
other long-term measures that have been put in place to cut transmission. This will inform 
decisions on the timing and circumstances under which the rules on 1 metre plus, the 
wearing of face coverings and other measures may be lifted. This will also inform guidance 
on working from home – which should continue wherever possible until this review is 
complete. 
 
Step 4 - not before 21 June 
 
Business, activities and events 
 
We hope to reopen remaining premises, including nightclubs, and ease the restrictions on 
large events and performances that apply in Step 3. This will be subject to the results of a 
scientific Events Research Programme to test the outcome of certain pilot events through 
the spring and summer, where we will trial the use of testing and other techniques to cut the 
risk of infection. The same Events Research Programme will guide decisions on whether all 
limits can be removed on weddings and other life events. 
 
As we move through each of these phases in the roadmap, we must all remember that 
COVID-19 remains a part of our lives. We are going to have to keep living our lives 
differently to keep ourselves and others safe. We must carry on with ‘hands, face, space’. 
Comply with the COVID-Secure measures that remain in place. Meet outdoors when we can 

Page 5



 
  

and keep letting fresh air in. Get tested when needed. Get vaccinated when offered. If we all 
continue to play our part, we will be that bit closer to a future that is more familiar. 
 
 
1610 proposals for reopening 
 
Officers have been in discussion with 1610 about how and when Torridge Leisure facilities 
can reopen. 
 
At a meeting with 1610 on the 10th March it was relayed to 1610 that the Council would like 
and expect to see each of it’s facilities open in some capacity on, or as close as possible, to 
the 12th April 2021. 
 
In response to that 1610 propose the reopening of the centres as follows: 

 
April – June: Phased reopening of all the centres based predominately around demand led 
activities, particularly for Torrington and Holsworthy.  

 
July – September: A period to rebuild demand for all programmes and progressively 
increase the number of operating hours at each centre, particularly for Torrington and 
Holsworthy.  

 
(The above would be subject to any government announcements and the Government road 
map.)  

 
1610 are finalising plans and defining needs around staffing presently, but at this stage it 
looks like the reopening of the Holsworthy facilities will rely on a successful recruitment drive 
and the completion of some repair and maintenance works.  It is therefore expected that 
Holsworthy reopening to be later than Torridge pool and Torrington, which are both planned 
to be reopened in some capacity during April. 

 
1610 will produce a time-line, or road map specific to the Torridge sites so that there is a 
guide on when each facility could reopen based on the likely demand, and the resources 
available to get them open again. This and a communications plan will be supplied to TDC 
so that members can be kept fully informed. Both these documents will have target dates set 
within them, but obviously they will depend heavily on Government announcements and may 
need to be amended in response to anything that might arise.  
 
At the time of writing this report these documents were still being prepared and not ready for 
presentation, but it is expected that they will be received by the Council before the 29th 
March to enable a verbal update to be provided. 

 
These proposals link well with the current change of law circumstances in relation to 
discretionary payments until June with subsequent use of the leisure recovery fund between 
July and September.  This will give 1610 a good opportunity of getting customer throughput 
and community usage back to something that reassembles pre-covid levels.   
 
To reassure members, 1610 state that their plan to reopen gradually, focusing on demand is 
designed to ensure the re-launch of all the centres is completed in a successful manner. The 
strategy is in accordance with the Roadmap, demand led and based on the resources 
available, keeping in mind that two of the centres will have been closed for over a year which 
in itself presents challenges.  
 
To make a success of the re-opening of centres will be important not to spread the limited 
available resources too thinly. It seems pragmatic to focus resources on sessions and 
activities with more demand so there is a greater community impact.  

Page 6



 
  

 
In terms of communication, 1610 plan to send out an email to Torridge Pool members w/c 
15th March with emails for Torrington and Holsworthy to follow later in the following week.  

 
1610 inform us that plans for staffing are more difficult to outline as leisure often has a 
transient workforce and there is also a variety of status’s in terms of contracts; part time, full 
time, zero hour/casual, as well as arrangements such as operational staff, delivery staff.  
There are currently a number of full and part time vacancies across all sites that will need to 
be filled to ensure full reopening. 

 
Although the vacancy spread looks fairly even, the vacancies for Torrington and Holsworthy 
represent a larger percentage of overall workforce for those centres.  

 
Financial Assistance to 1610 
 
On the 26th October 2020 Full Council resolved to provide financial assistance to 1610 for 
the period March- Oct for when facilities were closed.  These costs were estimated at 
£116,848. 
 
At the same meeting members resolved to provide financial assistance for the reopening of 
Torridge Pool for the period November 2020 to March 2021, which was estimated to require 
additional support £17,000.  However, due to further Covid-19 restrictions facilities have not 
be able to open for this whole period. 
 
The actual resolutions were: 
 

 To agree to a payment of £116, 848 to 1610 to help cover the costs associated with 
the closure of facilities between March 2020 and the end of October 2020 and that 
payment should be spread over the following 5 months in equal instalments. 

 To support reopening option 2 and that payments are made to 1610 on a monthly 
basis, retrospectively following open book analysis. 

 
At a further Full Council meeting on 30th November, it was resolved that: 
 

 TDC continue to work with 1610 to the end of the contract. 

 Torridge pool be reopened and a decision in respect of Holsworthy and Torrington 
pools be deferred until more information is available. 

 The Chief Executive Head of Legal and Governance (Monitoring Officer) and the 
Finance Manager (s151 Officer) be allowed to negotiate further the costs going 
further with the option to keep Torrington and Holsworthy discussion going forward. 

 
 
Whilst Torridge Pool opened for a short period the country entered a national lockdown on 
the 5 January 2021 and therefore it is now timely to bring the matter back to Full Council for 
further consideration especially for those services in Torrington and Holsworthy. 
 
Since March 2020, the Council has provided £184,258 of financial assistance to 1610 this 
covers the period up to December 2020. This amount is in addition to the standard contract 
management fee total of £128,754 (for the 12 months to 31/03/2021). 
 
The assistance of £184,258 is forecast to increase to £233,370 by the 31/03/2021 (this 
period included £60,714 of Government grants for the January lockdown, which has reduced 
1610’s losses, and therefore reduced Torridge District Councils assistance). 
 
 

Page 7



 
  

 
Future Assistance 

 
Moving forward, it is proposed that the current principal of providing financial assistance for 
reopening is continued until June 21st in line with the roadmap. 

 
Taking this approach would come at an estimated additional cost of £81,000 to be funded 

from the revenue account (taking the total assistance to £314,370) **.  This financial 

requirement has been built into the Council’s 21/22 budget. 
 

** It is anticipated that 1610 will be eligible for £60k of Restart Grants which would reduce 

the estimated additional cost to be funded from the revenue account is £21,000. 
 
After the 21st of June it is proposed that the Council continue to provide financial support to 
1610 to assist them to rebuild the business and manage the Torridge facilities.  To fund this 
the Council will use the £110,000 that it was successful in receiving from the National 
Leisure Recovery Fund (NLRF). 
 
The purpose of the NLRF monies – and the basis on which the funding package was 
allocated by HM Government – is to help to support costs of reopening and recovery of 
public sector leisure services.  When the national lockdown was announced in January some 
flexibility was sought from Government in terms of how the fund could be used. Government 
approval was provided for some of the costs in lockdown to be able to be funded but that the 
main purpose of the fund – to be used to help facilities and services reopening – was 
protected.   
  
It is important to clarify that: 
  
• NLRF monies can be applied to cover costs incurred through the operation of open 
leisure facilities between 1 December 2020 and 5 January 2021.  Funding should be applied 
in a way that is consistent with the financial and trading data for that period as provided in 
your submission as part of the NLRF application process. 
  
• Up to a maximum of 30% of the National Leisure Recovery Fund award can be used 
to cover lockdown costs between 5 January 2021 and 12 April 2021 (based on the 
Government’s latest roadmap to ease lockdown restrictions).  
  
• Funding is expected to be released now to support mobilisation and set up activities 
that will be required to enable reopening on 12 April 2021 or thereafter. The use of funds to 
cover lockdown costs is not expected to be a hinderance to supporting operators to prepare 
for re-opening. Consistent with the principles of Government’s 2020 Procurement Policy 
Note (PPN) addressing Covid-19, local authorities should pay suppliers as quickly as 
possible to maintain their cash flow and support suppliers so that hey are able to resume 
regular service once possible.  
  
The Fund’s monitoring processes will be used to reconcile the use of the NLRF against each 
of these points. 
 
As set out in the funding agreement there is a requirement on the local authority to pay their 
operator(s) promptly for expenditure incurred against any of the items above once they are 
in receipt of the NLRF funds from Sport England and a payment request has been made by 
the operator(s). 

 
 
 
 

Page 8



 
  

 Readiness of the facilities for reopening 
 

Surveys and inspections of each of the Leisure facilities have been undertaken by the 
Council/1610 in advance of reopening. 

 
The purpose of this work was to assess the readiness and suitability of the facilities for 
reopening and to help with forward planning as we draw towards the end of the current 
leisure contract term. 

 
 The initial findings of this work are the subject of a separate Part 2 report. 
 

For the purposes of debate on this agenda item we can summarise that the facilities are, or 
can be made, ready for reopening in line with the proposals above 

 
  

 
3. IMPLICATIONS 

 
Legal Implications 
 
See Conclusions 
 
Financial Implications 
 
To date the Council has supported 1610 on the basis as set out above. 
 
The Council has budgeted an additional £150,000 to provide support to the leisure 
contractor in 21/22. 
 
The Council was successful in an application to the National Leisure Recovery fund and has 
received an award of £110,000 to support the leisure contractor to reopen facilities. 
 
Human Resources Implications 
 
No direct implications 
 
Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications 
 
N/A 
 
Equality/Diversity 
 
N/A 
 
Risk Management 
Financial risks are set out in the report. 

 
 
Compliance with Policies and Strategies 
 
While the provision of Leisure Services is a discretionary activity the health and well being of 
communities is a strategic priority of the Council. 
 
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications 
 
N/A 

Page 9



 
  

 
Ward Member and Lead Member Views 
Date of Consultation – Consultation with Major Contracts Working Group 16/03/21 
 
The group expressed concern that it appeared likely that services will not be fully functional 
(albeit to the extent allowed within Covid restrictions) by 12 April. 
 

4. CONCLUSIONS 
 

During the periods of lockdown, it is the opinion of the Council that, while we accept that 
there has been a change in law, that does not make the Council liable for all costs 
associated with the management of the various leisure facilities. In addition the change in 
law is only temporary, and at some stage, the lockdown restrictions will be lifted.  The 
Council has at no time made the facilities unavailable to 1610 and has continued to pay the 
management fee associated with the contract despite 1610 not being able to deliver their 
contractual obligations (in line with guidance from the government to do so).  At the same 
time the Council does recognise that 1610 (and many other leisure providers nationally) 
have been seriously disadvantaged by closure of facilities and now require additional 
financial assistance from the Local Authority in order to be able to meet their contractual 
obligations. 
 
Post the lifting of the lockdown requirements, any financial assistance that is provided is at 
the discretion of the Council but if financial assistance is not provided it is likely that the 
facilities will remain closed to the public. 
 
There is an ongoing risk that the leisure contract would not be viable if additional financial 
assistance is not provided to 1610.  If the contractor were to default the council would be 
faced with a long term closure of facilities while options for reopening were considered and 
actioned.  There would also be a heavy financial impact on the Council as it would become 
responsible for the full costs associated with building maintenance, including the costs of 
items and actions that we will seek the contractor to deliver before the end of the contract 
period at the end of February 2022. 

 
Moving forward, if payment terms are agreed the figures provided are a best estimate of the 
liabilities that might fall upon the Council.  Monthly, and retrospectively, there will be an open 
book analysis of the financial performance and cost associated with running the centres and 
claim made to the Council accordingly.  This means that the figures for each of the options 
provided might be higher or lower than estimated as there are so many variables at play.  
The Council will need to monitor arrangements closely and may need to revisit 
arrangements should events turn out to be significantly different from the given estimates. 
 

 
 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 In full knowledge of the risks and benefits associated with reopening the Council’s leisure 

facilities, members consider the contents of the report and whether to resolve that: 
 

1. To support 1610 to reopen all Torridge leisure facilities in line with the proposals set out in 
the main body of the report and as may be verbally updated at the meeting. 
 

2. Whether to agree to continue to make payments to 1610 to cover the costs associated with 
the closure of facilities between April 2021 and the end of June 2021 and that payments are 
made to 1610 on a monthly basis, retrospectively following open book analysis. 
 

Page 10



 
  

3. That members approve the use of the £110,000 received from the NLRF to support 1610 to 
successfully reopen the leisure facilities and rebuild a customer base until the End of 
September 2021 and again that assistance payments are made on a monthly basis, 
retrospectively following open book analysis. 
 
 

4. That members acknowledge that any payment to 1610 post lockdown and post any change 
in law whilst the restrictions are imposed, will be made on the basis of not a contractual 
obligation but, on a discretionary basis, intended to assist 1610 and expedite the reopening 
of facilities for the benefit of the community.  Post any qualifying change in law, 1610 may 
not claim for any losses, meaning that if lockdown requirements are lifted and there is no 
longer a change in law, TDC are not liable for any payments to them, and any payments will 
be on a discretionary basis.  At this stage we do not know when the requirements will be 
lifted entirely. 

 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Consultations: Date of Consultation – 17/03/21 

Officers Consulted -Head of Legal and Governance, S151 Officer, 
Property and Major Projects Manager 

 Contact Officer: Head of Communities and Place 

 Background Papers:  

 

Page 11



Document is Restricted

Page 12

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 22

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	7 Reopening of Torridge Leisure Facilities
	12 Torridge Leisure Facilities- Maintenance and condition
	TDC Leisure Services - Interim Property Condition Report - 25th January 2021
	Torridge Leisure Reopening Survey costs table_


